
VILLAGE OF FRASER LAKE
REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL

AGENDA
 

Date: June 12, 2024
Time: 5:30 PM

Location: 210 Carrier Crescent, Fraser Lake, B.C.
Municipal Chambers

Pages

1. Adoption of the Agenda
Recommendation:
THAT the June 12th, 2024 Regular Council Meeting Agenda be adopted as
presented. 

2. Delegations

1. Shellie Gleave from the Eco Cooperative Community Service Centre,
regarding the Golden Opportunity Invitation to Collaborate dated June
7th, 2024

4

3. Adoption of Minutes

1. May 22nd, 2024 Regular Council Meeting Minutes
Recommendation:
THAT the May 22nd, 2024 Regular Council Meeting Minutes be adopted
as presented. 

4. Business Arising from the Minutes

5. Councillor Reports

1. Councillor Fennema

2. Councillor Jenkinson

3. Councillor LePoidevin

4. Councillor Webb

5. Mayor Storey
Recommendation:
THAT the Councillor Reports be received for information. 

6. Accounts Payable

1. Village of Fraser Lake Cheque Register from May 16th - May 31st, 2024 6
Recommendation:
THAT Council receive the Village of Fraser Lake Cheque Register from
May 16th - May 31st, 2024 for the amount of $804,000.28 for information

7. Correspondence List

1. Nellie Davis, Manager of Regional Economic Development for the 8



Regional District of Bulkley Nechako regarding the Bulkley Nechako Joint
Accessibility Plan dated May 17th, 2024
Recommendation:
THAT the Bulkley Nechako Joint Accessibility Plan be received for
information. 

2. Cindy Shelford, Chair of the Nechako-Kitimat regarding Water Reservoir
Replacement Project dated May 22nd, 2024

26

3. Erin Siemens, Project Planner for the College of New Caledonia
Regional Campus, regarding CNC request for Support Letter MPO dated
May 23rd, 2024

27

Recommendation:
THAT Council direct staff to write a letter of support for the Mineral
Processing Operator Training that will be offered within the Village of
Fraser Lake. 

4. Yannick Marcoz, Resident from Fraser Lake, BC regarding Wheel Chair
Swings dated June 3rd, 2024

5. Nadleh Whut'en regarding Keep Highway 16 Safe Billboard Unveiling,
dated June 7th, 2024

28

8. Staff Reports

1. Office of the Chief Administrative Officer

a. Village of Fraser Lake 2023 Annual Report 29
Recommendation:
THAT Council give notice of the annual meeting on June 26th,
2024, at which Council will consider the 2023 Annual Report
and submissions and questions from the public.

b. Union of British Columbia Municipalities Meeting Requests and
Resolutions

67

Recommendation:
THAT Council advises staff of resolutions for submission
directly to the Union of British Columbia Municipalities 2024
conference.
Recommendation:
THAT Council provides direction to staff regarding requests for
meetings with ministers and staff of ministries, agencies,
commissions, and corporations.

c. Mayor & Council 2024 Mouse Mountain Days Involvement
Pancake Breakfast;•

Hostages of Hospitality;•

Opening Ceremonies;•

Barbeque; and•

Parade.•

d. BC Hydro Meeting Request

Page 2 of 127



Recommendation:
THAT Council provide feedback on any meeting topics that they
wish to discuss with BC Hydro during the 2024 Union of British
Columbia Municipalities in September 2024. 

2. Director of Finance

a. 2023 Municipal Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 69
Recommendation:
THAT Council approve the 2023 Statement of Financial
Information. 

9. Reading List

1. Kelly Hall, Deputy Mayor for the City of Kamloops regarding Deputy
Mayor to Represent Kamloops City Council dated May 29th, 2024

121

2. Rae-Ann Polowski, Regional Office Administrator for the Ministry of
Emergency Management and Climate Readiness regarding the Snow
Survey and Water Supply Bulletin dated June 1st, 2024

122

3. Kermit Dahl, Mayor for the City of Campbell River, regarding Letter to
Minister Bruce Ralston regarding the State of the Forestry Industry in
British Columbia dated June 5th, 2024

123

4. Britta Boudreau, Manager of the Nechako-Kitimat Development Fund
Society regarding NKDF $140,374 for New Projects Across the Region
dated June 6th, 2024

125

Recommendation:
THAT items 9.1 to 9.4 be received for information.

10. New Business

11. Bylaws

12. In Camera
Recommendation:
THAT the meeting is closed to the public in accordance with the Community
Charter section 90 (1) (k) negotiations and related discussions that in the view of
Council could reasonably expect to harm the interest of the municipality if they
were held in public.

13. Rise with Report

14. Adjournment
Recommendation:
THAT the June 12th, 2024 Regular Council Meeting be adjourned. 

Page 3 of 127



June 07, 2024

Dear Ethan Fredeen,

I am reaching out on behalf of the Eco Cooperative Community Service Centre’s Board of
Directors to share an incredible opportunity with you and Fraser Lake’s elected officials in
hopes to inspire your involvement and support.

An initiative called the “Golden Opportunity” has been presented to the Eco Co-op by UBC’s
School of Architecture & Landscape Architecture, in collaboration with BCIT, as well as a
German university and an award winning innovative German housing business.

As you’re aware the Eco Co-op project's main focuses include building local skills and using
local resources to fill local needs. In this case we intend to work with provincial and
international architects and academic institutions to address our housing crisis while we
support local youth and improve the quality of life for our residents.

The Golden Opportunity is about supporting Indigenous and rural communities in BC by
providing an affordable and innovative housing option that is based on community
collaboration and innovation, and involves mentored construction and future employment
for local youth.

The Eco Co-op would like to extend this invitation to you to collaborate with us, alongside
these individuals and organizations to clearly define our collective housing needs, and to
co-design and help build a housing development prototype that is customized to our
identified needs together.

Professor and Principal Architect Inge Roecker from UBC has 20 years of experience with
housing and community wellbeing. She and her colleagues from BCIT and Germany have
gathered a group of 10 master students who are interested in working with us to co-design
the first customized unit, and then to help build it with a handful of our local youth and
skilled carpenters.

The collaborative design process will take 2 months - starting as soon as possible. The
hands-on learning experience and mentored construction of the prototype will take 2-3
weeks to complete next year. We are actively seeking adequate support to make it happen.

Your involvement in this project would allow us to showcase how we are working together
to embrace collaboration and commitment to excellence through inclusive community
engagement and cooperation.

The Golden Opportunity would provide skills training and future employment to our local
youth (age 16-17) as well as innovative housing options and business opportunities for our
communities.

Page 4 of 127



The opportunity would unfold as follows; A small group of local youth will work with
architecture students and skilled carpenters to build the first model next Spring.

Consecutive models could be built as part of a for profit social enterprise program that
creates jobs and homes for our communities - funded in part through government grants.

The German Consulate in Vancouver has informed us that a German Film Production
Company is interested in developing a documentary of the experience. The design team,
mentor-carpenters and film crew would come here for the 3 week event. We are
investigating what a Canadian film crew covering the event might look like as well.

We’ve learned that the initial prototype must be owned by a non-profit, so the first unit
would be used as the Eco Co-op’s headquarters, as well as a showhome, and a location for
inquiries about additional units, our partnerships, and the Eco Co-op project in general.

The municipality has expressed interest in partnering with the Eco Co-op in the future, so
perhaps this first unit (and even consecutive units) could be located in Fraser Lake.

If this invitation, (which has also been extended to our First Nation communities) is
accepted, your input, recommendations and support will be a cornerstone in our
cooperative resiliency building efforts, and will be an excellent representation of our values
based project for the world to see.

If interested, Professor Roecker (who happens to be a Director on the Eco Co-op team)
would like to begin discussions regarding our housing needs as soon as possible through
scheduled zoommeetings with local stakeholders and her students and colleagues. We will
be exploring the opportunity’s vision, main goals and requirements during these meetings.

Ms. Roecker has offered to fly from Vancouver to Fraser Lake in July to meet with interested
individuals in person, but we need to start discussions with her before then.

I would like to request an opportunity to discuss this initiative and our interests with the
Mayor and Council further, at the next Council meeting.

Thank you for your consideration and continued support in the Eco Co-op Project, I look
forward to hearing from you.

Best regards,

Shellie Gleave

Page 5 of 127



Page 6 of 127



Page 7 of 127



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bulkley-Nechako 
 Joint Accessibility  

Advisory Committee 
 

 

 
 
 
ACCESSIBILITY PLAN 
Version 1.0 – Spring 2024 

Page 8 of 127



Contents 
Introduction ....................................................................................................................................... 3 
Territorial Acknowledgement ....................................................................................................................... 3 

About the Partners ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

About the Committee .................................................................................................................................... 4 

Message from the Chair ................................................................................................................................ 4 

Definitions ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Framework Guiding our Work .......................................................................................................... 5 
Accessible BC Act Principles.......................................................................................................................... 5 

Other Legislation ............................................................................................................................................ 6 

Committee Mandate ...................................................................................................................................... 6 

Feedback Mechanism ........................................................................................................................ 7 
Barriers Identified ............................................................................................................................. 8 
What we Heard ............................................................................................................................................... 8 

Action Items .................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Built Infrastructure Actions....................................................................................................................... 9 

Information and Sensory Actions ............................................................................................................ 9 

Attitudinal and Systemic Actions ........................................................................................................... 10 

Emergency Response Actions ................................................................................................................ 10 

Advocacy Items ............................................................................................................................................. 10 

Monitoring and Evaluation ............................................................................................................. 11 
Monitoring ..................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Evaluation ...................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Conclusion ........................................................................................................................................ 11 
Appendix 1 – Mural Board Brainstorming ................................................................................................ 12 

 

  

Page 9 of 127



Introduction 
In June 2021, the Accessible BC Act became law. The Act provides a framework to identify, 
remove and prevent barriers to accessibility, including physical, technological, 
informational, sensory, systemic, and attitudinal barriers.  

More information about the Act can be found at: 
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/about-the-bc-
government/accessibility/legislation/accessiblebc 

To facilitate the work of the Accessible BC Act, the Bulkley-Nechako Joint Accessibility 
Advisory Committee was formed. It includes participating organizations from the Regional 
District of Bulkley-Nechako, Telkwa, Houston, Granisle, Burns Lake, Fraser Lake, 
Vanderhoof and Fort St. James.  

Territorial Acknowledgement 
The Bulkley-Nechako Joint Accessibility Advisory Committee would like to open this Plan by 
acknowledging that the Committee conducts its work on the unceded territories of First 
Nations across the vast region. The Bulkley-Nechako Region covers an area over 70,000 
square kilometers, spanning the traditional territories of the Dakelh, Nedut’en, Tse’khene, 
and Witsuwit’en speaking peoples. The Committee respects the distinct cultures of the 
Indigenous Peoples in the Bulkley-Nechako and honours their long-standing relationship 
with these lands and waters from time immemorial. 

About the Partners 
This joint Committee was created to support collaborative efforts across the Bulkley-
Nechako for accessibility improvements. The partner organizations who make up the non-
voting members of the Committee, and who have committed to use the work of the 
Committee to further accessibility in their own communities are:  

1. Regional District of Bulkley-
Nechako (all Electoral Areas) 

2. District of Fort St. James 

3. District of Houston 

4. Village of Burns Lake 

5. Village of Fraser Lake  

6. Village of Telkwa 

7. Village of Granisle 

8. Fort St. James Public Library 

9. Vanderhoof Public Library 

10. Burns Lake Public Library 

11. Granisle Public Library 

  

Page 10 of 127

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/about-the-bc-government/accessibility/legislation/accessiblebc
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/about-the-bc-government/accessibility/legislation/accessiblebc


About the Committee  
The membership of the Committee reflects, to the best extent possible, the diversity of 
persons with disabilities in BC, and particularly the Bulkley-Nechako region. Membership is 
prioritized for applicants who have lived experience of disability, are a support person for 
persons with disabilities (either personally or professionally) or are Indigenous.  

Message from the Chair 
As the inaugural Chair of the Committee, it has been an honour to learn 
from the passionate, knowledgeable members. It is wonderful to see so 
much commitment to improving our communities and ensuring equitable 
access for all our residents. I look forward to continuing the work to see 
tangible improvements across the region. 
Director Judy Greenaway,  
Bulkley-Nechako Joint Accessibility Advisory Committee Chair 

Definitions 

For the purposes of this Plan,  
"Committee" means the Bulkley-Nechako Accessibility Advisory Committee; 

"Plan" means the Committee’s published accessibility plan; 

"barrier" is anything that hinders the full and equal participation in society of a person 
with an impairment. Barriers can be caused by environments, attitudes, practices, policies, 
information, communications, or technologies. They can also be affected by intersecting 
forms of discrimination. 

"disability" means an inability to participate fully and equally in society as a result of the 
interaction of an impairment and a barrier; 

"impairment" includes a physical, sensory, mental, intellectual or cognitive impairment, 
whether permanent, temporary or episodic; 

"Indigenous peoples" has the same meaning as in the Declaration on the Rights of 
Indigenous Peoples Act; 

  

Page 11 of 127

https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/19044
https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/19044


Framework Guiding our Work 
Accessible BC Act Principles  
The Government of British Columbia is working towards being an inclusive province. There 
are over 926,000 people with disability in B.C. In June 2021, the Accessible B.C. Act became 
law. It provides a framework to identify, remove, and prevent barriers to accessibility. The 
new law is an important step to make B.C. a more accessible province.1 

Part 3 of the Act requires Local Governments to: 

• Establish an accessibility committee.  

• Develop an accessibility plan. 

• Review the plan every 3 years 

• Create a public feedback mechanism. 

What are examples of barriers? 
 
Attitude 
When people think and act based upon false ideas, like: 

• Making decisions about people with disabilities without including them. 
• Not believing that a person with a disability can contribute to the workforce. 

 
Physical 
When obstacles make access difficult, like: 

• A washroom with an accessible stall but no automatic door opener. 
• Hosting a meeting in a space with no wheelchair access. 

 
Information or communication 
When communication methods do not reach people with disabilities, like: 

• Using small print or not providing large-print versions of material. 
• Videos, events, or meetings that do not have closed captions. 

 
Systemic 
When an organization’s policies or procedures aren’t inclusive, like: 

• Not providing an American Sign Language interpreter or closed captioning. 

 
1 https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/about-the-bc-
government/accessibility/legislation/accessiblebc  

Page 12 of 127

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/about-the-bc-government/accessibility/legislation/accessiblebc
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/about-the-bc-government/accessibility/legislation/accessiblebc


• Requiring a driver’s licence for a job when another form of transportation could be 
used. 

 
Technology 
When technology can’t be accessed by people with disabilities, like: 

• Websites, documents, or databases that are not accessible for screen readers. 
• Website graphs and charts do not have text to explain them. 

 
Sensory 
When lights, sounds or smells prevent participation in the environment, like: 

• Co-workers wearing perfume in the workplace. 
• Use of fluorescent lighting in the workplace. 

 

Other Legislation 
Other Legislation that governs how local governments operate include: 

Local Government Act - provides a legal framework and foundation for the establishment 
and continuation of local governments.  

Community Charter - Charter provides a legal framework for the powers, duties and 
functions that are necessary for local governments to fulfill their purposes. 

BC Building Code - governs how new construction, building alterations, repairs and 
demolitions are completed. 

Committee Mandate 
The BN JAAC Committee’s mandate is to advise all participating Councils and Boards in the 
Regional District of Bulkley-Nechako of the need to establish, develop and maintain 
equitable policies, services and facilities for persons with disabilities, including, but not 
limited to: transportation; housing; employment; education; and recreation. 

To provide an opportunity for public input on accessibility issues affecting people with 
disabilities. 

To identify barriers to services and facilities encountered by people with disabilities, and 
partner with local councils and agencies to address them. 

To promote initiatives that foster active living, and the full participation of people with 
disabilities in their communities. 

Page 13 of 127

https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/r15001_00
https://www.bclaws.gov.bc.ca/civix/document/id/complete/statreg/03026_00
https://free.bcpublications.ca/civix/content/public/bcbc2018/?xsl=/templates/browse.xsl&xsl=/templates/browse.xsl


Feedback Mechanism 
The Joint Committee and partner organizations are committed to hearing from residents 
about barriers to accessibility in all forms, including physical, technological, informational, 
sensory, systemic, and attitudinal barriers. We welcome feedback via several mechanisms:  

- Toll free via phone at 1-800-320-3339 
- Via email to info@rdbn.bc.ca 
- Via the online form at https://www.rdbn.bc.ca/departments/administration/bulkley-

nechako-joint-accessibility-advisory-committee  
- Via a Committee member in your community 

All feedback received will be provided on the agenda of the next regularly scheduled 
Bulkley-Nechako Joint Accessibility Advisory Committee meeting to help with planning. All 
partner organizations receive the minutes from those meetings.  

  

Page 14 of 127

mailto:info@rdbn.bc.ca
https://www.rdbn.bc.ca/departments/administration/bulkley-nechako-joint-accessibility-advisory-committee
https://www.rdbn.bc.ca/departments/administration/bulkley-nechako-joint-accessibility-advisory-committee


Barriers Identified 
What we Heard 
Via public feedback and Committee contributions, several types of barriers were identified 
that are prevalent across the region. They include: 

Type of Barrier Examples 

Barriers in the 
built 

environment 

- Insufficient accessibility in public washrooms 
- Poor condition of sidewalks.  
- Insufficient quantity and accessibility of public 

seating (benches). 

Informational 
Barriers 

- Lack of parking signage for accessible parking 
- Signage not accessible to low-vision readers. 
- Lack of support for digital literacy assistance.  

Attitudinal 
Barriers 

- Lack of prioritization of employer training to 
support employees with disabilities. 

- Protests that impact or re-traumatize 
marginalized communities. 

Sensory 
Barriers 

- Lack of quiet spaces for people on the autism 
spectrum  

- Accessibility issues on websites/social media for 
low-vision residents  

Systemic 
Barriers 

- Lack of services for adults with disabilities once 
out of school. 

- Lack of accessible employment opportunities. 
- Insufficient quantity of accessible, affordable 

housing for residents on a disability allowance. 
Transportation 

Barriers 
- No or limited taxi service, particularly accessible 

taxis. 
- Transportation to medical appointments is 

challenging. 

Housing 
Barriers 

- Older high-density housing is not accessible, 
especially important feature like washrooms. 

- Many apartments lack elevators. 

Page 15 of 127



Action Items 
As an advisory body, the Committee requests that all partner organizations consider the 
actions listed below (should they be applicable). Wherever possible, guidelines or 
standards are provided to assist in the actioning of a listed item.  

Built Infrastructure Actions 
1) Ensure recreation infrastructure is designed or upgraded for accessibility. 

Suggested resource: BC Parks Universal Design Guide Front-country Parks 
2) Review local accessible parking availability for best-practices. 

Suggested resource: Regulatory Changes to Accessible Parking Requirements 
3) Participate in the Business Façade Improvement Program offered by Northern 

Development Initiative Trust and highlight accessible improvements.  
4) Identify eligible projects and apply for support from the Government of Canada’s 

Enabling Accessibility Fund to improve infrastructure.  
5) Allocate Canada Community-Building Funds  to accessibility projects in eligible 

project categories. 

Information and Sensory Actions 
1) Ensure printed materials for internal and external use are accessible.  

Suggested resource: CNIB Clear Print Accessibility Guidelines 
2) Review Social Media posts for accessibility.  

Suggested Resource: https://www.queensu.ca/accessibility/tutorials/social-media-
accessibility 

3) Be sure that websites are designed for accessibility.  
Suggested resource: https://www.destinationbc.ca/learning-centre/accessible-
website-design/ 

4) Review communication, especially emergency-related documents, for plain 
language to ensure your messages reach many literacy levels.  
Suggested resource: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/services-for-
government/service-experience-digital-delivery/web-content-development-
guides/web-style-guide/writing-guide/plain-language  

5) Create sensory safe spaces in public buildings and workplaces.  
Suggested resource: Cognitive and Sensory Checklist in Destination BC’s Accessible 
Attributes Checklist  

6) Investigate options for ASL/Transcription of public or recorded meetings. 
Potential resources: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/family-social-
supports/services-for-people-with-disabilities/supports-services/american-sign-
language-asl-interpreter-services/understanding-asl-interpreter-services  
or 
https://www.chs.ca/service/cart-communication-access-realtime-translation  

Page 16 of 127

https://accessibility.bcparks.ca/docs/bcparks-universal-design-guide.pdf?v=1705968000061
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/farming-natural-resources-and-industry/construction-industry/building-codes-and-standards/bulletins/b18-09_accessible_parking_requirements_bulletin.pdf
https://www.northerndevelopment.bc.ca/funding-programs/community-development/business-facade-improvement/
https://www.northerndevelopment.bc.ca/funding-programs/community-development/business-facade-improvement/
https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/services/funding/enabling-accessibility-fund-mid-size/who-can-apply.html
https://www.canada.ca/en/employment-social-development/services/funding/enabling-accessibility-fund-mid-size/who-can-apply.html
https://www.ubcm.ca/funding-programs/canada-community-building-fund/community-works-fund
https://cnib.ca/sites/default/files/2018-07/CNIB%20Clear%20Print%20Guide.pdf
https://www.queensu.ca/accessibility/tutorials/social-media-accessibility
https://www.queensu.ca/accessibility/tutorials/social-media-accessibility
https://www.destinationbc.ca/learning-centre/accessible-website-design/
https://www.destinationbc.ca/learning-centre/accessible-website-design/
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/services-for-government/service-experience-digital-delivery/web-content-development-guides/web-style-guide/writing-guide/plain-language
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/services-for-government/service-experience-digital-delivery/web-content-development-guides/web-style-guide/writing-guide/plain-language
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/governments/services-for-government/service-experience-digital-delivery/web-content-development-guides/web-style-guide/writing-guide/plain-language
https://www.destinationbc.ca/content/uploads/2021/10/DBC-Accessible-Attributes-Checklist-FINAL.pdf
https://www.destinationbc.ca/content/uploads/2021/10/DBC-Accessible-Attributes-Checklist-FINAL.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/family-social-supports/services-for-people-with-disabilities/supports-services/american-sign-language-asl-interpreter-services/understanding-asl-interpreter-services
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/family-social-supports/services-for-people-with-disabilities/supports-services/american-sign-language-asl-interpreter-services/understanding-asl-interpreter-services
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/family-social-supports/services-for-people-with-disabilities/supports-services/american-sign-language-asl-interpreter-services/understanding-asl-interpreter-services
https://www.chs.ca/service/cart-communication-access-realtime-translation


Attitudinal and Systemic Actions 
1) Research and provide ongoing education and training for staff to improve 

awareness and understanding of service delivery for vulnerable residents.  
Suggested resource: BC Public Service Equity, Diversity and Inclusion learning and 
resources 

2) Create employment opportunities for staff with diverse backgrounds and support 
needs within your organization.  
Suggested resource: Work BC Employer Resources on Creating an Inclusive 
Workspace 

3) Pursue or review and evaluate recommended actions in and age-friendly 
designation to increase local awareness of and thoughtful action about community 
barriers to accessibility.  
Suggested resource: Becoming and Age-friendly Community: Local Government 
Guide  

Emergency Response Actions 
1) Review and recommend actions in your community’s Emergency Response Plan to 

include public education, identify advance planning considerations or response 
mechanisms to assist in the safe evacuation of vulnerable populations in an 
emergency event.  

Advocacy Items 
The Committee also encourages partner organisations to actively advocate for 
improvements to accessibility in areas outside their direct influence. This involves advocacy 
with other levels of government, as well as businesses and services offered in their 
communities. This includes raising awareness of and requesting improvements to: 

- the declining availability of assessment and diagnosis access in northern, rural 
communities. Waitlists for assessments like autism are very long, delaying support 
delivery.  

- the impact centralization of services has on people with disabilities.  
- The overarching impacts of downloading accessibility work to schools/local 

governments. The large workload of those organizations means that accessibility is 
hard to prioritize.  

- A lack of respite and community-based supports for adults with disabilities  
- The loss of/lack of wrap around services available in our communities.  

  

Page 17 of 127

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/careers-myhr/about-the-bc-public-service/diversity-inclusion/learning-resource
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/careers-myhr/about-the-bc-public-service/diversity-inclusion/learning-resource
https://www.workbc.ca/access-employer-resources/hire-employees/create-inclusive-workplace
https://www.workbc.ca/access-employer-resources/hire-employees/create-inclusive-workplace
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/people/seniors/about-seniorsbc/afbc/becoming_an_agefriendly_community_local_government_guide.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/people/seniors/about-seniorsbc/afbc/becoming_an_agefriendly_community_local_government_guide.pdf


Monitoring and Evaluation 
Monitoring  
Public feedback will continue to be collected through all channels and provided to the 
Committee.   

Partner organisations are asked to report any actions taken to address accessibility 
barriers the Committee’s Staff Liaison at the RDBN.  

Evaluation 
Public feedback and partner organization actioned items will be provided to the Committee 
for ongoing review.  

The Committee will review this information annually to measure progress on the actioned 
items and will evaluate successes and additional avenues for influence.  

Conclusion 
The Committee is pleased to be able to deliver these recommended actions and advocacy 
items for consideration to all partner organizations. We hope that this Plan will provide 
actionable items that will help make our communities more accessible.   

The RDBN Staff Liaison to the Bulkley-Nechako Joint Accessibility Advisory Committee 
welcomes questions at any time. They can be reached by phone at 1-800-320-3339 or by 
email at info@rdbn.bc.ca. 

  

Page 18 of 127

mailto:info@rdbn.bc.ca


Appendix 1 – Mural Board Brainstorming 
 

 

Page 19 of 127



Local Community Accessibility Grant

About this initiative
To provide local governments with up to $25,000 in funding to remove barriers for persons with 
disabilities by implementing one of the initiatives identified in their Accessibility Plan, or by their 
Accessibility Committee. It could also be an initiative that the community would like to implement 
based on feedback received from service users based on their feedback mechanism.

Eligible Applicants
All municipalities and regional districts in British Columbia are eligible to apply for this funding.

1. Each municipality or regional district is eligible to submit an application

2. Priority will be given to local governments that are fully compliant with Part 3 of the
Accessible B.C. Act.

Nature of the Funding
Each local government is eligible for up to $25,000 and may select one of the following streams:

Stream 1—Local Government led projects – new
This stream is designed for local governments that already have a project that will advance accessibility 
or build the local-level capacity when responding to local accessibility needs or priorities.

Stream 2—Capacity support – existing/expanding
This stream is designed for local governments that may be unsure of where to start, and will focus on 
working together with others to build a deeper sense of existing and emerging accessibility needs or 
priorities. 

Local governments in this stream will work with SPARC BC to define their needs and select a specific 
area of focus (built environment, attitudes, practices, policies, information and communication or 
technology). The funding will then be used to implement the specific projects or initiatives identified.

 � Stream 1—Local Government led projects – new 

 � Stream 2—Capacity support – existing/expanding 

Please provide a short overview of your proposed initiative or area of focus:

page 1 of 6

Page 20 of 127



About your Project
The funding is available to support projects of varying sizes, types and complexity including projects, 
both new and existing, designed to:

• Remove physical barriers in the built environment

• Understand and address attitudes, practices, and policies

• Enhance information, communication, and technology

Please describe the needs or types of barriers that your initiative will address:

Which specific needs or disability groups will be served through your initiative?

What geographic area does your initiative cover?

What is the type of knowledge or insight that you hope to gain?

Types of Activities Covered
What types of activities will be delivered through your initiative?

• Ramps, elevators, lifts, accessible washrooms, power door operators, accessible doors, audio
signals and loops and lighting/color contrasting for visually impaired etc. (The completed
infrastructure must be open for public use)

• Anti-bias training, service delivery training

• Training or supports needed to promote safer economic inclusion, interview processes, ASL
interpretation and supports for events, Accessibility Audits of workflow, remuneration for
Accessibility Advisory Committee reviewing and members.

• Funding for legal and consulting advice as well as internal staff resources.

• Funding to strengthen communication designed to allow for greater inclusion

• Job task checklists in pictorial form, wayfinding signage, ASL version of policies, application forms
accessible to screen readers, reprinting hardcopies of material in large font, Braille versions of
documents, accessibility enhancement to the website.

• Purchasing software that enables the production of accessible documents, specialized equipment
and productivity tools (headsets, tablets, laptop screenreaders).

• Other ideas as identified through your Accessibility Committee.

page 2 of 6

Page 21 of 127



Funding Amounts
Funding will be dispersed in the following methods, all successful applicants must have all project 
completed by end of the grant programme and are required to submit a final report to SPARC BC by 
31st March 2026.

1. For projects $10,000 or less funding will be disbursed in 1 transaction of 100%.

2. Grants above $10,000 will be dispersed in 2 transactions—80% upon return of the Terms & 
Conditions document and 20% upon receipt of Final Report

ADMINISTRATIVE DETAILS: KEY STRATEGIES AND ACTIONS INCLUDING KEY MILESTONES
Please tell us about the specific steps and actions to be taken, key milestones and critical dates. Please 
note, it is possible to add additional pages if required. However, project applicants are only expected to 
provide high-level details and that SPARC BC will seek additional information or clarification if required. 
Completion of this table is optional for stream 2.

Key Steps and Actions Key Milestones/Outcomes Critical Dates

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

Conclusion: Project Outcomes Report Submission

page 3 of 6

Page 22 of 127



REQUESTED PROJECT BUDGET
The following sets out the proposed budget to complete the scope of work as outlined in the 
previous section. Completion of this table is optional for stream 2.

Specific Steps and Actions Proposed Budget

1. $

2. $

3. $

4. $

5. $

6. $

7. $

8. $

9. $

10. $

11. $

12. $

TOTAL REQUESTED BUDGET AMOUNT $

Third-party contributions
Third-party means any person or legal entity, other than the Province, who participates in the 
implementation of an eligible project by means of contract. The Province’s share is calculated 
once all third-party contributions (provincial, federal, and private funds) have been deducted 
from the total eligible costs of the project. If third-party funding is available, it may be applied 
to the project outside the provincial grant portion.

In-kind Contributions
In-kind or donated contributions are not an eligible cost. In-kind contributions may include 
volunteer hours and/or donated professional labour, services, space and materials, which are 
provided at no cost or below fair market value to the Recipient.

page 4 of 6

Page 23 of 127



ABOUT THE APPLICANT
Tell us about your organization and key project implementation partners for this initiative:

Organization Name 

Address 

Contact Information

Name: Position:

Email: Phone:

Population:

Population size:  � Less than 15,000  � Between 15,000 and 25,000  � Over 25,000

Accessibility in your organization

Please provide a link to your organization’s accessibility plan

Please provide a link to your organization’s feedback mechanism

Does your organization currently offer service delivery training to staff?  � yes  � no

Does your organization measure the number of employees who identify as 
persons with disabilities?  � yes  � no

Which service area is responsible for advancing accessibility in your community? 

Do you have existing partnerships and relationships which focus on advancing shared accessibility 
goals? 

page 5 of 6

Page 24 of 127



Letter of Support
Please provide a letter of support from your accessibility committee. This letter should be submitted 
alongside this application form as a Word document or PDF. 

Signature

The signature below certifies that all the information provided in this application is complete and 
correct.

Applicant Name: 

Digital Signature: 

Date: 

Application Checklist

 � Accessible Communities Grant Application Form

 � Workplan (only required for applicants in Stream 1)

 � Proposed budget (only required for applicants in Stream 1)

 � Letter of Support from Accessibility Advisory Committee

 � Board Resolution/Letter of Support from CAO

Submit your Application
If you have any questions or would like to submit your application, please email accessibility@sparc.
bc.ca

Thank you for your application!

page 6 of 6

✔

Page 25 of 127

mailto:accessibility%40sparc.bc.ca?subject=
mailto:accessibility%40sparc.bc.ca?subject=


 

 

May 22, 2024 
 
Mayor Sarrah Storey 
Village of Fraser Lake 
210 Carrier Cres. 
Fraser Lake, BC 
V0J 1S0 
 
RE: Water Reservoir Replacement Project 
 
Dear Sarrah,  
 
I wish to thank you for your application for funding assistance for the Village of Fraser Lake – Water 
Reservoir Replacement project which was reviewed by Directors on May 15, 2024.  
 
After careful consideration of your proposal, it is the decision of the Board to approve funding 
assistance to a maximum of $50,000 subject to confirmation of the remainder of the funds.  
 
This offer is valid for a period of six months from the approval date.  
 
Once you are ready to proceed, please contact Britta Boudreau to initiate the development of an 
agreement and presentation of the first installment. If you have any questions or wish to discuss, I 
encourage you to call the Manager at 250-964-4066.  
 
The Nechako-Kitamaat Development Fund Society’s funding programs are designed to support 
sustainable economic activity in northern communities affected by the Kitimat-Kemano project and by 
the creation of the Nechako Reservoir. The government of British Columbia and Alcan each contributed 
$7.5 million to create the BC-Alcan Northern Development Fund. The NKDF Society, incorporated on 
August 18, 1999, spends the income from its long-term investments on programs and projects that 
meet each community’s goals for economic development and community stability.  
 
We ask that you not speak to the media about this funding offer until we have coordinated a press 
release with Rio Tinto and the British Columbia Government.  
 
On behalf of our Board of Directors, I wish you great success with this project.  
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Cindy Shelford, Chair 
 
 
Cc:// Ethan Fredeen, Chief Administrative Officer 
  

Page 26 of 127



 
Minerals Processing Operator - Leter of Support Template 

 
 

(Company Letterhead)  
(Date)  
(Organization)  
(Address)  
(Phone)  
 
To College of New Caledonia (CNC):  
 
MiHR’s Minerals Processing Operator (MPO) Training, a dura�on of approximately three weeks, focuses 
on the knowledge and skills an individual would require for an entry-level posi�on as an MPO in an 
opera�ng mine. 
  
(Industry Partner) confirms its partnership with College of New Caledonia for the delivery of MiHR’s 
Minerals Processing Operator (MPO) Training. 
  
(Industry Partner) will support the program through a commitment to:  
 
(Please state your commitment by outlining your involvement in the program. Some examples may 
include)  
 
• Outreach and promotion  
• Recruitment of participants  
• Delivering training  
• Providing guest speakers  
• Providing hands on learning opportunities  
• Providing site tours  
• Intent to hire successful learners 
 
(Industry Partner) looks forward to ongoing partnerships to support entry to and reten�on in the mining 
sector. 
  
Signature:  
Name:  
Title: 

Page 27 of 127



Page 28 of 127



        REPORT TO   
             COUNCIL 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Date:    June 12, 2024 Regular Council Meeting 

To:    Mayor & Council 

From:    Frank Peebles, Economic Development Officer   

Subject: Village of Fraser Lake 2023 Annual General Report 

________________________________________________________________________ 

PURPOSE 

For Council to consider the Annual Report at a public meeting, as required by the Community Charter, 

and address questions related to the report. 

BACKGROUND 

Pursuant to Section 98 of the Community Charter, Council must, by June 30 of each year, prepare an 
annual municipal report including:  

• a statement of municipal objectives and the measures for the current and next year;  

• audited annual financial statements for the previous year;  

• the amount of property taxes that would have been imposed on the properties that were 
granted permissive tax exemptions for the previous year;  

• a report of municipal services and operations for the previous year; and  

• a progress report of the objectives and measures for the previous year.  

 

Staff is requesting that Council review the draft report, direct any changes to the report, and direct staff 

to give notice of the meeting at which it will be considered along with questions and submissions from 

the public. The annual meeting is proposed to be held on June 26th, 2024.  

DISCUSSION & COMMENTS 

As this report is being brought forward during the June 12th, 2024 Regular Council Meeting there is not 

another regularly scheduled meeting outside of June 26th, 2024 for Council to adopt the request and it 

meets the minimum 14 day requirement for public inspection. Council may consider a special meeting of 

Council prior to June 30th, 2024 however there may be scheduling conflicts.  

ALTERNATE RECOMMENDATIONS 

None 

ATTACHMENTS 

APPENDIX A: DRAFT 2023 Annual Report 

 

 

Page 29 of 127



        REPORT TO   
             COUNCIL 
 
 

 

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT Council give notice of the annual meeting on June 26th, 2024, at which Council will consider the 

2023 Annual Report and submissions and questions from the public.  

 

Prepared and 
Submitted by: 

Frank Peebles, Economic Development Officer 

CAO Approval: Ethan Fredeen, Chief Administrative Officer 

 

Page 30 of 127



  

 

Village of Fraser Lake  
 

Annual Report: 2023 
 

 

Village of Fraser Lake  
 

Annual Report: 2022 

Version – June 2024 

Page 31 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

2 
 
 

Table of Contents 
Village of Fraser Lake .................................................................................................................... 1 

Village of Fraser Lake .................................................................................................................... 1 

Welcome to Fraser Lake! ...................................................................................................... 4 

Fast Facts ............................................................................................................................... 5 

Message from the Mayor .......................................................................................................... 6 

Village of Fraser Lake Council .................................................................................................. 8 

Background ............................................................................................................................ 8 

Council Update: 2023 ........................................................................................................... 8 

Message from the Chief Administrative Officer ................................................................... 10 

Message from the Director of Finance .................................................................................. 10 

Message from the Economic Development Officer.............................................................. 12 

Public Works Department ...................................................................................................... 13 

Administrative Department .................................................................................................... 14 

Capital Projects ........................................................................................................................ 15 

Capital Projects: 2023 Recap ............................................................................................ 16 

Capital Projects 2022: Highlights ...................................................................................... 16 

2023 Update: Completed Projects .................................................................................... 18 

2023: List of Capital Projects in Progress ......................................................................... 18 

2023 Outlook ....................................................................................................................... 18 

Future Projects ..................................................................................................................... 19 

Trends in Local Economic Development ............................................................................... 21 

Strategic Priorities 2020-2022 .............................................................................................. 22 

Asset Management ............................................................................................................. 23 

Tourism and Beautification ................................................................................................ 24 

Municipal Services and Operations ....................................................................................... 26 

Emergency Services ................................................................................................................ 27 

Message from the Fire Chief .............................................................................................. 28 

Emergency Responders: Key Points .................................................................................. 29 

Statistics ................................................................................................................................... 30 

Number of Employees (2022-2023) .................................................................................. 31 

Population Demographics .................................................................................................. 31 

Page 32 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

3 
 
 

Age Distribution and Gender .............................................................................................. 33 

Summary .............................................................................................................................. 34 

Funding Agencies .................................................................................................................... 35 

APPENDIX A: Financial Statements & SOFI .............................................................................. 36 

 
 

  

Page 33 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

4 
 
 

Welcome to Fraser Lake! 
  

“Where nature is our doorstep.” 
 
The Village of Fraser Lake is located within the 
Bulkley Nechako Regional District, 160 km 
west of Prince George in Northern British 
Columbia. The town is nestled alongside the 
glistening Fraser Lake, which is overlooked by 
a range of small mountains and forested area.  
 
Fraser Lake is the seasonal home to over 1000 
Trumpeter Swans each spring, making it an 
ideal location for birders to visit. Nature 
enthusiasts enjoy opportunities to view a 
variety of wildlife and birds, including, bald 
eagles, seagulls, waterfowl, moose, deer, 
caribou, elk, black bears, grizzly bears, cougars, 
and wolves. 
 
The area holds 170 lakes within a 100 km radius 
and is home to some of the best recreational 
fishing opportunities in Northern BC!  Hiking 
trails located throughout the area and along 
Mouse Mountain are utilized year-round for 
walking, cross-country skiing, and 
snowshoeing. 
 
White Swan Park provides a beautiful back 
drop for winter and summer activities, 
including, fishing, outdoor skating, kayaking, 
canoeing, and paddle boarding. Enjoy a 
leisurely stroll through the park or take your 
family for a swim.  
We also enjoy seasonal events that include our 
Canada Day celebration, Family Day, and 
Halloween fun. Come experience the strong 
sense of community that exists in this friendly 
village! 

 

Page 34 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

5 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fast Facts 
 

 
Incorporated: 1966 

Traditional Territory: Nadleh Whut’en, Stellat’en First Nation, and Cheslatta First 
Nation 

Population: the municipal population is less than 1,000 people, however, the rural 
population surrounding the Village of Fraser Lake is larger. Although not everyone 
resides within our Village, there are many people who call Fraser Lake home. Rural 
residents and local First Nations communities frequent the Village for local services and 
amenities.  

Area: 484 Hectares (1210 Acres) 

Average cost of home: $226,728.00 

Number of Schools: 2 (Mouse Mountain Elementary School and Fraser Lake Elementary 
Secondary School) 

Active Trails: Approximately 20 trails1 

Average Size of Char: 7-11 pounds 

Average Rainbow Trout: 14-15 inches 

July daily temperature: Historical averages between 19-23 C 

 
1 The number of trails is an approximate estimate, as many trails are currently being mapped throughout 
the area. 

Page 35 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

6 
 
 

Message from the Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
We are pleased to present Fraser Lake’s 2023 Annual Report. This report offers us an 
opportunity to share our growth and highlight the Village of Fraser Lake’s successes. We 
would like to encourage all residents to read this report to learn about the work of your 
municipal government and celebrate with us another momentous year for Fraser Lake. 
The projects completed in 2023 continue to be a testament to the hard work and 
dedication of staff and council. While we know its not possible to complete everything 
on our big “to do” list in a year, we are pleased with what we have accomplished to date 
and know the projects and plans we have set in motion or completed will benefit Fraser 
Lake for generations to come.  

Council, is made up of regular people that continually look for the best way to support, 
protect and grow the community while keeping taxes low. The decisions and priorities 
we make are based on staff capacity, the Village budget, our Official Community Plan 
(OCP), Strategic Priorities and the availability of grant funding. Occasionally, important 
funding opportunities present themselves, in those instances Council and staff consider 
whether these added opportunities are achievable. The ability to pivot and juggle in a 
small community are important attributes that greatly contribute to our success.  

I must commend staff for pivoting with us to add to that growth and to make sure we 
can take advantage of the opportunities that arise. While we appreciate the streets are 
what people want to see fixed first, a lot of work must go into planning and to find the 
financial resources to complete repairs to the buried infrastructure under the roads.  

We continue to improve the community as we work towards the goal of addressing aging 
infrastructure. As you can imagine, advocacy plays a significant role in having our voices 
heard. This is one of the most important roles of Council. Being a smaller municipality, it 
can be more difficult to have our voices heard. That is why we continue to advocate 

Sarrah Storey 
Mayor – Village of Fraser Lake 

Page 36 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

7 
 
 

through government forums and collaborations on behalf of our community. This 
includes supporting and participating in the Northwest Resource Benefits Alliance 
(RBA), North Central Local Government Association (NCLGA), Union of British 
Columbia Municipalities (UBCM), Lakes Timber Supply Area Coalition, Northern 
Medical Programs Trust (NMPT), and the Local Government Leadership Academy 
(LGLA) to name a few. The role of council is to be the voice of our community. We take 
this seriously. Whether its hearing concerns or challenges, building resolutions, speaking 
to Provincial MLA’s or Ministers or Members of Parliament, comes solutions and 
advocacy which can lead to support or grants.  

This is an exciting time in Fraser Lake, and we are grateful to share it with you. Council 
is looking forward to making continued progress towards our goals in 2024 and we are 
excited to have a great community to share these successes with. On behalf of Council, 
we would like to thank you for the opportunity to serve the residents of our amazing 
community. 

 

  

  

Page 37 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

8 
 
 

Village of Fraser Lake Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Councillor Jolene Webb, Mayor Sarrah Storey, Councillor Craig LePoidevin,  
Councillor Audrey Fennema, Councillor Joe Jenkinson 

 

Background 
 

The Village of Fraser Lake is governed by an elected Council comprised of a mayor and 

four Councillors. Members of Council are elected for a four-year term, with the current 

term running from November 2022 to November 2026.  

Regular Council meetings are held in Council Chambers at 210 Carrier Crescent, on the 

2nd and 4th Wednesday each month at 5:30 pm. 

 

Council Update: 2023 
 
Council would like to recognize the many contributions of our community volunteers. 

This commitment to the community is important, and a great demonstration of the 

dedication of our community members. Thank you.  On behalf of Mayor and Council, we 

appreciate your activities to make Fraser Lake a better place to live. 

Asset Management, Tourism and Beautification, and supporting Healthy Active 

Lifestyles remain as the strategic priorities for the Village (please see the Strategic 

Priorities section to view a more detailed description of the recent advancements in these 

areas).   

The Village continues to pursue a variety of activities that are vital to the built 

infrastructure and development of our community. Significant capital projects during 

Page 38 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

9 
 
 

2023 included the completion of Phase I of the Community Hall-Curling Rink, paving to 

some sections of road in the community, repairs to community infrastructure, and the 

installation of community wayward signage. Each of our initiatives work toward design 

improvements, support system sustainability, and to enhance our community’s capacity 

for growth. Completion of Phase II of the Curling Rink / Community Hall project is 

something we are looking forward to in summer 2024. 

Please refer to the capital projects section to learn more details about the projects that 

were completed in 2023 or are currently in progress. As our capital projects forge ahead, 

Council has a positive outlook for the continued community development of Fraser Lake 

this year and into the future! 

  

Construction works underway in the exciting upgrades to the 
curling club, skating rink and community hall complex 

Page 39 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

10 
 
 

Message from the Chief Administrative Officer 
 

  
 
 
The Village of Fraser Lake administrative team is 
pleased to present the 2023 Annual Report to our 
community. This report outlines our Village operations, 
strategic vision, financial position, and capital projects 
undertaken throughout the year. 

2023 was a year of significant change for Fraser Lake. 
Our team faced numerous challenges and seized many 
opportunities. Notably, Mr. Rodney Holland retired on 
December 15th, 2023, after many years of dedicated 
service as the Chief Administrative Officer. We extend 
our heartfelt thanks to Mr. Holland for his contributions 
to advancing our community's asset management and 

ensuring the sustainability and longevity of our service delivery. 

I joined the team late in 2023 and have been thoroughly impressed by the hard work and 
dedication of our Council and staff. Their efforts have ranged from addressing the 
Village's silviculture liabilities in the Fraser Lake Community Forest to laying the 
groundwork for essential capital projects earmarked for 2024. Notable achievements 
include completing Phase 1 of the C.H. Foote Memorial Arena Retrofit and maintaining 
a strong focus on the community’s aging infrastructure. 

In my short time with the Village, I have come to appreciate the solid foundation and 
strong capabilities of our team. Their ability to navigate through what seems to be a 
never-ending list of trials and tribulations of municipal governance is commendable, and 
I am excited to work alongside our elected officials, staff, and valuable community 
groups to chart a clear path forward. 

Looking ahead to 2024, we anticipate a year of significant progress with several key 
upgrades planned for our community. We aim to complete Phase 2 of the C.H. Foote 
Memorial Arena Retrofit, which includes upgrading the front entry and improving the 
industrial kitchen. Replacing the Water Reservoir, which has exceeded its anticipated 
lifecycle, and adding a dedicated water line to connect to it is a priority. Additionally, our 
Wastewater Treatment facility has faced compliance challenges, and addressing these 
will be a focal point during the 2024 Budget Process. 

As a newcomer to this community but a long-time resident of the Central Interior Plateau, 
I eagerly look forward to getting to know everyone in Fraser Lake. My goal is to support 
a vision that enhances core service delivery to best serve our community. 

Ethan Fredeen 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Page 40 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

11 
 
 

Message from the Director of Finance 
  

Laura McMaster 
Director of Finance 

 

 
The Village of Fraser Lake’s Finance Department is 

responsible for the budgeting process which includes 

preparation, implementation, and on-going 

monitoring of the municipality’s budget.  The Finance 

Department is responsible for income and 

expenditure reports and must adhere to Public Sector 

Accounting Board (PSAB) standards.  The Finance 

Department processes daily financial and accounting 

transactions. Laura also implements, and monitors 

internal control procedures, calculates, and maintains 

property taxes, utilities, and business licensing. 

 

The Finance Department works closely with all 

departments as well as with Mayor and Council with 

a focus to provide maximum efficiency and 

reasonable taxation, while also making provision for 

future infrastructure and service needs.  

 

Page 41 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

12 
 
 

Message from the Economic Development Officer 
 
The Economic Development Officer (EDO) is the link between the Fraser Lake business 

community, not for profit organizations, and other government organizations. The 

Village of Fraser Lake would like to thank Dave Christie for his time and dedication as 

the Economic Development Officer and we wish him all the best in his new role with 

the Ministry of Jobs, Economic Development, and Innovation with the Province of B.C.  

 

The Village has been operating without an EDO since the beginning of 2023 and would 

like to thank Administrative Staff for taking on additional responsibilities to maintain 

the obligations of the EDO. The Village has hired a new EDO who will be starting in 

May 2024. 

 

The key responsibilities of this position include: 

• Attracting, retaining, and promoting businesses, services, and community 

groups 

• Resident recruitment and retention activities 

• Providing information to potential community investors 

• Identifying tourism needs within the community 

• Grant writing, tracking, and reporting 

• Managing the Visitor Information Centre, Museum, and Community 

Transportation Service 

• Managing the Business Façade program 

• Assisting the local Chamber of Commerce by providing services as the Managing 

Director 

• Liaison with regional and local organizations to promote growth, success, and 

resiliency in Fraser Lake and the Bulkley Nechako 

• Provide information on entrepreneurship, economic development, tourism, and 

resources at community events such as the Business Fair 

• Improving and updating key economic information, marketing materials, area 

profile, and web pages 

  

Page 42 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

13 
 
 

Public Works Department 
 

Director Vern Hilman lead the Public Works Department in 2023, and has since 
retired. The Village wishes Vern a very happy and restful retirement. The department of 
Public Works is responsible for the physical construction, repair, and maintenance of 
community assets and physical infrastructure. Public Works employees each have a 
primary responsibility: water, wastewater, or the Arena. Beyond those responsibilities, 
Public Works staff are busy with seasonal maintenance activities such as grass cutting, 
snow removal, and making sure that culverts are running. Our Public Works staff are 
extremely versatile. When a water line breaks, or there is a report of a sewage backup, 
our team of dedicated employees arrive to fix the problem. Some of their work involves 
collaborating with contractors, to ensure the work is completed to the standards of the 
contract. 
 

2023 was a busy year for the Village staff, overseeing and working on many 

projects. Project highlights include: 

 

• Levelling of the grounds at the cemetery 

• Valve replacements on fire hydrants throughout the community 

• Cleaning of Watermain Valve shut offs throughout the community 

• Painting and repairing Village flag poles 

• Replacement of the furnace at the Museum 

• Sidewalk repairs and letdowns 

• Installation of sewer utility poles 

• Insulated the water pump-house 

• Installation of new doors on the White Brick Building 

• Preparation for 2024 projects 

 

To view a more detailed list of projects from this year, please refer to the Capital 

Projects Recap section. Thank you to the Public Works team, who performed 

tremendous work on several repairs, upgrades, and new additions to the physical 

infrastructure of our community in 2023! 

  

Page 43 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

14 
 
 

Administrative Department 
 

•   

Sylvia Hendriksen 
Administrative Assistant 

 
Sylvia assists with a variety of projects and records 

within the office. The key responsibilities of this 

position include: 

 

• Front Counter 

• Payroll 

• Accounts Receivable 

• Assisting the Director of Finance 

• Cemetery Management 

• Records Management 

• Assists with the Community Forest Records 

• Meeting room bookings 

• Village facility bookings 

• Bulk Water Station Management 

• Fraser Lake Villa Management 

• Assisting the Director of Public Works and the 

Fire Chief with office duties  

Page 44 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

15 
 
 

  

 

Capital Projects Highlights 

Page 45 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

16 
 
 

Capital Projects: 2023 Recap 
 

“Investing in the future of the community.” 
 

Projects completed in 2023 included improvements to the ice plant, cemetery, White 

Swan Park, the completion of an accessibility project, the installation of highway speed 

signs, and community paving. Continued work with our Municipal Asset Management 

Program took place in 2023, which helped the Village to improve our Asset 

Management database through collecting and organizing our infrastructure 

information. 2023 also saw the beginning of construction for the Community 

Hall/Curling Rink Project. 

With the support of Council, the following projects and achievements were completed 

or advanced.  The projects listed throughout the Annual Report offer important 

highlights across our three strategic priorities (2023-27): Asset Management, 

Community Beautification, and Completion of Projects.  

 
 

Capital Projects 2023: Highlights 
 

Project Recent Advances Next Steps 

 
Community Hall and 
Curling Rink Phase I 

 

• Completion of 
Phase I 
 

 

• Working on Phase II 
of the renovation 

• Completion of 
Phase II 

Project Description: 
 
Phase I retrofit the curling rink to create an accessible, multi-use, year-round facility. 
The project upgraded the structural, electrical, architectural and refrigeration aspects 
of the building to create an energy efficient and high functioning building. Phase I 
also added storage, new light fixtures, new windows, and new wall coverings. 

 
 

Project Recent Advances Next Steps 

 
Safety & Security Fence at 
Treatment Plant 

 

• Chain-link fence 

• Establishes hard 
perimeter  

 
Project Status: Complete 

Page 46 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

17 
 
 

 

Project Description: 
 
Adding a physical boundary around a large asset improves public safety, reduces the 
likelihood of vandalism or other nuisance, provides more assured workspace for staff.  

 
 

Project Recent Advances Next Steps 

 
Park Improvements 

 
 

 
Project Status: Complete 

 
White Swan Park and Kin Park were the main focuses of attention in 2023, with the 
addition of six combined picnic tables and new covered shelters for families to take 
respite from sun/rain. The shelters were asked for by the public, and positive 
feedback has resulted. Funding help was provided by the Nechako Kitimat 
Development Fund.   

 
 

Project Recent Advances Next Steps 
Community Way-Finding 
Signage 
 

 
 

 
Project Status: Complete 

Project Description: 
 
Installation of signs to direct viewers to local community amenities. The purpose of 
this project is to highlight local resources for local residents, to draw tourists to off-
highway recreation, and to project the town’s life and animation.   

 

Project Recent Advances Next Steps 

 
Fire Services Upgrades 

 

• Multiple areas of 
improvement for 
Fraser Lake Fire 
Rescue 

 

 
Project Status: Complete 

Project Description: 
 
The main element of the upgrades was the acquisition of a new fire truck, thanks to 
major funding support from Coastal Gas Link and the Northern Development 
Initiative Trust. Also, the driveway into the fire hall had its pavement replaced. And 
some key tools were acquired (infrared cameras and multi-gas detectors).   

Page 47 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

18 
 
 

 
 
 

2024 Update: Completed Projects 
 

With the support of Council, the following projects have been completed as of June 
2024: 

 
- Painting the soccer nets 
- Sealing sidewalks throughout the community 
- Desludging of the Lagoons 
- Asbestos Abatement of the C.H. Foote Foyer 
- Flag Pole Repainting 
- Watermain Line Route Clearing on Mouse Mountain 
- Heater Installation in the Curling Rink 

 

2024: List of Capital Projects in Progress 
 
There are several capital projects currently in progress. The following ten (10) projects 
are listed as the major developments out of the 36 projects scheduled for 2024: 
 

1. The Curling Rink / Community Hall Project – Phase II 
2. Advancement of the active transportation project 
3. Danger tree removal 
4. Water Modelling 
5. Heat Reclamation at C.H. Foote Arena 
6. Commercial Thinning Fraser Lake Community Forest 
7. Aeration and Blower System Upgrade  
8. Community Hall Commercial Kitchen 
9. Water Reservoir Replacement 
10. Dedicated Boiler Room at C.H. Foote Arena 

 

2024 Outlook 
 
The outlook for 2024 is positive. Our focus remains grounded in the three strategic 
priorities, as updated by council this past year looking towards 2027: Asset 
Management, Community Beautification and Tourism, and Completion of Projects.  

Many of the Village activities revolve around maintaining and upgrading existing 
infrastructure for modern day use. We do our best to address these needs in a way that 
adds to the beautification of our community for those who live here as well as 

Page 48 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

19 
 
 

newcomers and visitors. Important projects the Village continues to plan for include 
upgrades to Village properties, the Curling Rink/Community Hall project, replacement 
of the water reservoir tower and the construction of a designated water line from the 
Water Treatment Facility to the new water tower. The Village is also working on 
upgrading the aeration system at the Wastewater Treatment Facility. 

We are looking forward to continuing our in-person community events now that we 
can gather. A more relaxed and interactive rest of the year is something to continue to 
look forward to. 
 

Future Projects 
 
The following section outlines three major projects which will make a significant 
difference for the long-term sustainability of the community. Funding these types of 
large projects is always a challenge, it can take several years to determine the outcome 
of applications. Having shelf-ready projects with the design and planning completed 
are key. The Village is doing everything possible to advance and maximize the success 
of these endeavors.  
 
Curling Rink/Community Hall Project 
 
This project supports the strategic priorities associated with Tourism and Active 
Healthy Lifestyles.  This project will upgrade the curling rink into a multi-use, year-
round facility that can be used as a community hall. It will provide a modern space for 
public and private events.  
 
In 2023, the Village finished Phase I construction which started in Fall 2022. Phase II 
involves an expanded entry equipped with a vestibule, accessibility ramp and 
handrails, and new accessible washrooms and changing rooms. Finally, Phase II 
includes a new commercial kitchen.  
 
Water Tower Project 
 
Funding was secured from Infrastructure Canada in 2023 and the planning for this 
project was nearly completed in 2023. The project has scheduled the procurement of a 
new water reservoir and the development of the pad where the reservoir will be placed 
this year. Work will begin in June 2024.  
 
Designated Water Line Project 
 
This project will modernize the community’s drinking water distribution system by 
improving the consistency of chlorination. The project will require excavation of the 
water line route. While the road is open, storm sewer infrastructure will be installed, 

Page 49 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

20 
 
 

and the Asbestos Cement pipes will be replaced.   This will allow the Village to assist 
residents to direct basement sump pump discharge into the storm sewer, rather than 
into the sanitary sewer line.   
 
The roadbed and asphalt surface of the road will be rebuilt along the construction route.   
The Village’s plan is to install sidewalks and catch basins to finish off the project. This 
new waterline will run from the Water Plant up Carrier Crescent where it turns at the 
intersection with Tunasa Drive and continues to the Water Tower    

The Village applied for funding through the Canada Community Building Fund 
program and our application has been approved.  Projects such as this replace 
substantial amounts of buried infrastructure. 
 

  

Page 50 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

21 
 
 

Trends in Local Economic Development 
 
Village Office records show that in 2023, a total of 9 building permits and 114 business 
licenses were issued.  
 
As it can be seen in figure (1), between 2020 and 2021 fewer building permits were 
issued due to the impacts from COVID-19. The number of business licenses has been 
steadily increasing over the past five years. Village staff have noticed more businesses 
have been increasing their catchment areas to include Fraser Lake. The increase in 
business licenses can also be accounted for due to more stringent enforcement of 
licensing requirements. This recent influx in economic development is expected to 
continue. 
  

Figure (1) – Building 

Permits Chart  

2017 – 2023  

Figure (2) – 

Business Licenses 

Chart 2017 – 2023  

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
P

er
m

it
s

Year Issued

Building Permits Issued (2017-2023)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
Li

ce
n

se
s

Year Issued

Business Licenses Issued (2017-2023)

Page 51 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

22 
 
 

 
  

 

Strategic Priorities 2024-2027 

Page 52 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

23 
 
 

Asset Management 
 
Taking steps to inspect, evaluate, maintain, and plan for the replacement of our aging 

infrastructure (sewer lines, water mains and valves, buildings, sidewalks, paved roads, 

and hydrants). That is Asset Management.  

 

➢ Actions Taken (2023) 

▪ Community Hall Phase 2 Planning 

▪ Water Reservoir Planning  

▪ Sidewalk Repairs 

▪ Cemetery Improvements 

▪ Sealcoating 

▪ Museum Walkway  

 

➢ Expected Outlook (2024) 

 

Village Staff have continued to use Asset Management software to track repairs, 

upgrades, and replacements of assets in the community. With regular assessment of 

Village sewer lines, water mains and valves, buildings, sidewalks, paved roads, and 

hydrants Village Staff can track asset conditions and levels of service required. There 

are more capital projects underway for 2024 to update community assets. As time 

permits, staff update the database.   

  

Page 53 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

24 
 
 

Community Beautification  
 

By doing work on our community to make it look better we can attract both tourists as 

well as new residents to the area. Working on community beautification benefits all 

those who live in Fraser Lake. 

 

➢ Actions Taken (2023) 

▪ Tourism studies were performed to indicate how many tourists 

stopped in our town, where they came from, and what impressions 

were made for them. (New post-pandemic baselines forming) 

▪ Arena upgrades will enhance visitor experiences when they come 

for recreation but will also give local residents stronger amenities at 

the curling/skating/community hall complex. 

▪ Walkway and furnace replacement at the Visitor Info Centre / 

Museum may not sound exciting, but these greatly serve the 

strong, positive impression provided by this facility. 

▪ Planted deciduous trees along the highway through the Fraser Lake 

Re-Greening Project 

▪ Added Park benches and parking lot maintenance at White Swan 

Park, plus picnic table and shelter structures at White Swan and 

Kin Parks (thanks to funding from Nechako Kitimat Development 

Fund)  

▪ Completed the lighting and ramp improvements at the boat launch 

▪ New planters throughout the community 

 

➢ Expected Outlook (2024) 

 

Moving into 2024, the Village is hoping we continue to see an increase in the number of 

tourists visiting our community. Early numbers from the Visitor Information Centre 

show a busier spring, already. Additional efforts towards community beautification and 

the new wayfinding signs will hopefully encourage more people to stop in and explore 

our community as they are driving through. The 2023 addition of shelter structures at 

parks will add to the enjoyment and safety of tourists, and that always applies as well 

to local residents’ enjoyment of their own community (public feedback already positive 

about the shelters.  

  

Page 54 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

25 
 
 

Completion Of Projects  
 

Ideas abound, and work is always underway to make civic improvements, but 

emphasizing the completion of projects makes maximum use of invested money and 

shows the local public that their municipal representatives are following strategic plans 

to their proper conclusion. It ensures that new initiatives can more confidently be 

undertaken, when projects are started in a progression of projects finished, so things 

don’t get sidetracked or lost in any funding/labour shuffles as time goes on.   

 

➢ Actions Taken (2023) 

▪ The Village supports sports such as minor hockey, youth soccer, 

slow pitch softball, curling, and pickleball.  

▪ The sledding hill adjacent to the Skateboard Park continues to grow 

with regular additions of soil and landscaping each year.  

▪ Upgrades to the boat launch and docks facilitated greater ease of 

access and visibility for boats. 

▪ The  Active Transportation Plan continues to add phases, in the 20-

year goal of a safe and efficient network of trails, paths, sidewalks 

and other elements of egress. 

▪ Visitor Information Centre and Museum walkway replacement, 

sign refurbishment, furnace replacement. 

 
➢ Expected Outlook (2024) 

 

The Village is expecting continued recreational activities this year. Winter activities 

included skating on the lake as well as at the arena, cross-country skiing, and 

snowshoeing. During spring and summer months pickleball, soccer, slow-pitch softball, 

as well as hiking provide opportunity for activity. Community members can often be 

seen out for a walk or using the playgrounds. We look forward to progress in 2024 on 

the water tower upgrade, the improvements to water lines, and the current phase of 

construction on the curling-skating-community hall complex.  

  

Page 55 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

26 
 
 

Municipal Services and Operations 
 
 
Services provided by the municipality include: 
 
 

• Legislative (bylaws, policies, and procedures) 

• Fire protection 

• Fire Inspection 

• Building permits and inspection 

• Bylaw enforcement 

• Business licensing 

• Planning services 

• Street and sidewalk maintenance, construction, and reconstruction 

• Snow removal 

• Drainage system maintenance 

• Street lighting 

• Parks maintenance  

• Recreational services 

• Cemetery operations 

• Collection authority for taxation 

• Sanitary sewer collection system, operation, maintenance, and construction 

• Water system operation 

• Garbage collection  

 

Page 56 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

27 
 
 

  

 

Emergency Services 

Page 57 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

28 
 
 

Message from the Fire Chief 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our goal for Fraser Lake Fire Rescue is to continue implementing the BC structure fire 

fighter training playbook and provide training to deliver the highest level of service 

possible. Certification based training will ensure consistent training standards for 

firefighters. It also provides greater efficiencies and cooperation with other fire 

departments we have mutual aid agreements with.  

The Village of Fraser Lake developed a Wildfire Fuel Management Fire Smart program 

to assist the Village to reduce the risk to homes due to the impact of wildfires. The 

Village of Fraser Lake also developed an Emergency Program for the Emergency 

Operations Center (EOC). The program has provided training to EOC team members, 

staff members and local volunteers. This training will provide greater capacity for the 

response and recovery from emergency events. 

Responsibilities 
• Emergency medical first responders 

• Protection, control, and extinguishment of fires 

• Protection of life and property 

• Inspection of all commercial buildings 

• Enforcement of all municipal laws  

• Emergency Planning 

• Animal Control 

Joe Pacheco 
Fire Chief 

Page 58 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

29 
 
 

• SPU Training and Wildfire control 
o Mitigation and education 

• Life and Safety Program 
o Providing fire safety education to seniors and youth 

 

2023 Highlights 
 

• New firetruck 

• Paving of the front parking lot/driveway 

• New “TIG” infrared cameras (two) 

• New multi-gas detectors (two) 

• Community wildfire prevention work 

• (Thanks to funding from the Fraser Lake Fire Rescue Training Society) new 
propane props installed at the airport for training scenarios   
 

2024 Outlook 
 

• Developing partnership potential with Stellat’en First Nation for firefighting 
resource sharing 

• Putting the airport’s propane scenario props to use for training  

• New focus on community interaction and department morale for the purposes of 
recruiting and retention  
 

Emergency Responders: Key Points 
 
Number of Police Officers: 4 
Number of Fire Fighters: 1 Full Time 
Number of Volunteer Fire Fighters: 18 
Paramedical Ambulance Staff: 7 

 
  

2023 saw a new firetruck and newly 
paved firehall apron for Fraser Lake Fire 
Rescue (left) while 2024 will be all about 
recruitment, retention and community 
engagement (above), according to chief 
Joe Pacheco, looking to fill all that turnout 
gear with professional volunteers.  

Page 59 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

30 
 
 

  

 

Statistics 

Page 60 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

31 
 
 

Number of Employees (2023-2024) 
 

Figure (3) – Employee Numbers 2023-2024 

 

2023 2024 

• Full time staff members (11) 

• Part time staff members (4) 

• Summer Students (6) 

• Full time staff members (11) 

• Part time staff members (3) 

• Summer Students (6) 

 
 

Population Demographics 
 

Statistics Canada Census Data 
 
According to the Statistics Canada Census for 2021 the population of Fraser Lake has 

decreased by 2.3% from 988 to 965 persons between the years 2016 to 2021. The Official 

Community Plan recognizes the Village of Fraser Lake as an important service center. 

The municipal population is less than 1,000 people; however, the population which 

looks to Fraser Lake as its service center is considerably higher considering the rural 

population, and local First Nations communities. The catchment area (Electoral Area D) 

has increased by 9.2% from 1472 to 1607 persons since 2016.    

 
 

Figure (4) – Fraser Lake Population Chart: 2001 to 2021 

 
Population Growth 2001 2006 2011 2016 2021 

Fraser Lake 1268 1113 1167 988 965 
Electoral Area D 1715 1682 1734 1472 1607 

Regional District Bulkley-Nechako 40,856 38,243 39,208 37,896 37,737 

Sources: Statistics Canada. Census Profile 2001-2021 

 
 
  

Page 61 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

32 
 
 

Figure (5) – Fraser Lake Population Change 2001-2021 (Graph) 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(Source: Canadian Census Analyzer; Statistics Canada, 2022) 

 

 

• The Canadian Census results for 2001 to 2021 reveal the population of Fraser 

Lake showed a slight decline from the previous census collection but has 

generally remained stable since 2016. The population percentage change was 

recorded as -2.3%.  

 

Figure (6) – Breakdown of Household Size (2021) 

  

• Average 
Household 
Size = 2.2 

Page 62 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

33 
 
 

Age Distribution and Gender 
 
 

Figure (7) – Average Age of Population (2016-2021) 

 

Year Total Population Female Population Male Population 

2016 41.4 42.5 40.4 

2021 42.9 43.7 42.2 

(Source: Canadian Census Analyzer; Statistics Canada, 2022) 

 

 

 

Figure (8) – Gender & Age Breakdown (2021)  

 

 

(Source: Statistics Canada, 2022) 

 

  

Population Pyramid 

• Women represented 46.6% of 

the population in 2021. 

 

• Men represented 53.3% of the 

population in 2021. 

• The 2021 census data 
shows that the 
population distribution 
in Fraser Lake has a 
strong percentage of 
residents within the 30-
44 and 45-59 age cohorts. 
 

• The average age of 
residents in Fraser Lake 
was found to be 42.9 

Page 63 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

34 
 
 

Summary 
 
 
 

 
 

The age cohort 0-14 represented 18.72% of the population in 2016. In 
2021, this dropped slightly to 18.13% of the population. 
  
 

 
 

The age cohort 15-29 represented 16.19% of the population in 2016. In 
2021, this decreased to 13.98% of the population. 
 
 

 
 

The age cohort 30-44 represented 16.70% of the population in 2016. In 
2021, residents in this category increased to 19.17% of the population. 
 
 

 
 

The age cohort 45-59 represented 22.26% of the population in 2016. In 
2021, the number of residents in this category decreased to 20.20% of 
the population. 
 
 

 
 

The age cohort 60-74 represented 16.70% of the population in 2016. In 
2021, the number of residents in this category increased to 18.13% of 
the population. 
 
 

 
 

The age cohort 75+ represented 8.6% of the population in 2016. In 
2021, the number of residents in this category increased to 9.84% of 
the population.  
 
 

  

Page 64 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

35 
 
 

Funding Agencies 
 
The Village of Fraser Lake is thankful for the generous support provided to our 
community from the following funding agencies and levels of government. Without 
this support, many of our initiatives that work to strengthen the economic health and 
sustainability of our community would not be possible. We would like to thank: 
 
 

• The Federal Government for their funding through Infrastructure Canada, Canada 
Summer Jobs, Canadian Heritage, Community Economic Recovery 
Infrastructure Program 

• the Provincial Government through programs such as the Family Day Grant, 

Northern Capital Planning Grant, and the Rural Economic Diversification and 

Infrastructure Program (REDIP) 

• Union of B.C. Municipalities (UBCM) 

• Northern Development Initiative Trust (NDIT) 

• Nechako Kitimaat Development Fund (NKDF) 

• Regional District Bulkley- Nechako 

• BC Hydro 

• Northern Health 

• Fire Smart BC 

• Clean BC 

• TC Energy, and  

• the many companies and individuals who have supported Village initiatives 

such as our Canada Day celebrations 

 

 

Thank you. 

  

Page 65 of 127



VFL Annual Report 2023 

 

36 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A: Financial 

Statements & SOFI 

Page 66 of 127



        REPORT TO   
             COUNCIL 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Date:    June 12th, 2024 Regular Council Meeting 

To:    Mayor & Council 

From:    Ethan Fredeen, Chief Administrative Officer 

Subject: Union of British Columbia Municipalities Meeting Requests and Resolutions 

________________________________________________________________________ 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is to seek Council’s input on resolutions for submission to the 2024 Union of 

British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) convention and to obtain direction from Council regarding 

requests for meetings with provincial cabinet ministers and with staff of ministries, agencies, 

commissions, and corporations during the convention.  

BACKGROUND 

The 2024 UBCM convention will be held from September 16 – 20 in Vancouver. The annual convention is 

a valuable opportunity for the Village to present concerns and requests to the Province by submitting 

resolutions for consideration at the convention and through meetings with provincial ministers, the 

premier, and staff of provincial ministries, agencies, commissions, and corporations. The 2024 Provincial 

Appointment Book  includes information regarding the ministries, agencies, commissions, and 

corporations available for meetings and the topics under their jurisdiction; information on the resolution 

process is available on the UBCM website.  

DISCUSSION & COMMENTS 

The deadline for requesting a meeting with a cabinet minister is June 21st; the deadline for requesting a 

meeting with staff is August 21st . The schedule has been set so that a local government that is 

unsuccessful in obtaining a meeting with a cabinet minister may, on receiving the minster’s regrets, 

request a meeting with ministry staff instead. Meetings with staff may also be requested during the 

convention.  

Meeting requests must follow the established format, limited to 100 characters for the title, 700 

characters for the background, and one sentence of no more than 300 characters for the specific 

request.  

Meetings with ministers are fifteen minutes in length, while meetings with staff are 30 minutes. Up to 

three topics may be discussed in one meeting; only one meeting may be requested with each minister. 

Council may consult the 2024 Provincial Appointment Book for information on topics available for 

discussion with the various ministries, agencies, commissions, and corporations.  

Staff are seeking direction from Council regarding requests for meetings with ministers and staff from 

ministries, agencies, commissions, and corporations.  

Page 67 of 127

https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/UBCMMeetingRequest/2024%20UBCM%20Convention%20Provincial%20Appointment%20Book.pdf
https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/UBCMMeetingRequest/2024%20UBCM%20Convention%20Provincial%20Appointment%20Book.pdf
https://www.civicinfo.bc.ca/UBCMMeetingRequest/2024%20UBCM%20Convention%20Provincial%20Appointment%20Book.pdf


        REPORT TO   
             COUNCIL 
 
 

 

 
 
 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

There are no alternative options for consideration.  

RECOMMENDATIONS 

THAT Council advises staff of resolutions for submission directly to the Union of British Columbia 

Municipalities 2024 conference. 

THAT Council provides direction to staff regarding requests for meetings with ministers and staff of 

ministries, agencies, commissions, and corporations. 

CAO Approval: Ethan Fredeen, Chief Administrative Officer 

 

Page 68 of 127



Page 69 of 127



Page 70 of 127



Page 71 of 127



Page 72 of 127



Page 73 of 127



Page 74 of 127



Page 75 of 127



Page 76 of 127



Page 77 of 127



Page 78 of 127



Page 79 of 127



Page 80 of 127



Page 81 of 127



Page 82 of 127



Page 83 of 127



Page 84 of 127



Page 85 of 127



Page 86 of 127



Page 87 of 127



Page 88 of 127



Page 89 of 127



Page 90 of 127



Page 91 of 127



Page 92 of 127



Page 93 of 127



Page 94 of 127



Page 95 of 127



Page 96 of 127



Page 97 of 127



Page 98 of 127



Page 99 of 127



Page 100 of 127



Page 101 of 127



Page 102 of 127



Page 103 of 127



Page 104 of 127



Page 105 of 127



Page 106 of 127



Page 107 of 127



Page 108 of 127



Page 109 of 127



Page 110 of 127



Page 111 of 127



Page 112 of 127



Page 113 of 127



Page 114 of 127



Page 115 of 127



Page 116 of 127



Page 117 of 127



Page 118 of 127



Page 119 of 127



Page 120 of 127



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

May 29, 2024            
                                                                                                       
 
BC Municipalities 
 
 
Dear BC Mayors, Council and Staff 
 
 
RE: Deputy Mayor to Represent Kamloops City Council 
 
Kamloops City Council wishes to inform all representatives of the Municipal Governments of BC 
that Mayor Reid Hamer-Jackson is no longer authorized to speak for the will of Kamloops City 
Council or the corporation of the City of Kamloops, as per Council resolution effective May 28, 
2024.  
 
The appointed Deputy Mayor, which rotates month-to-month among the eight councillors and is 
outlined in the attached schedule, will represent City Council and the organization at all events 
and for all matters locally, provincially, and federally. Please note, the Deputy Mayor schedule is 
subject to change. The current version is posted online at Kamloops.CivicWeb.net. This 
decision does not preclude staff speaking publicly on behalf of the City of Kamloops.  
 
The Deputy Mayor will author and sign all communications from Kamloops City Council. All 
applicable provincial and federal government agencies and all municipal governments within BC 
will receive this communication.  
 
Any official communications for Kamloops City Council should be directed to Deputy Mayor and 
Council via the Executive Assistant to Mayor and Council at eacouncil@kamloops.ca. We 
appreciate your cooperation and look forward to working with you. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Deputy Mayor Kelly Hall 
City of Kamloops  
 
Enclosed: 2024 Deputy Mayor Schedule 
 

Page 121 of 127

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https://kamloops.civicweb.net/portal/___.YzFjOmZyYXNlcmxha2U6YzpvOmFjZmY2NjdlMDJjNjRhNjI1Y2YzZTMwNmU5ODAxODhjOjY6ZjYxYjplNTdkMzBmZGQ4MDBkMDRlMDk0ZWRjZmU5NjNhZmY5ODYzMDFlYjRmMTlmNGQ1NGNiMDE2NDE3ODJkZGVkMzc1OnA6VA
mailto:eacouncil@kamloops.ca


 

 
              Snow Survey and Water Supply Bulletin – June 1st, 2024 
 

 
Every effort is made to ensure that data reported on these pages are accurate. However, in order to update the graphs and indices as quickly as possible, 
some data may have been estimated. Please note that data provided on these pages are preliminary and subject to revision upon review. 

  
Basin 

% of 
Normal 

 
Basin 

% of 
Normal 

 
Basin 

% of 
Normal 

Upper Fraser West  N/A#  North Thompson 72 South Coast 42 
Upper Fraser East  43  South Thompson 87 Vancouver Island 31 
Nechako 53 Fraser River 57 Central Coast 34 
Middle Fraser  39 Upper Columbia 60 Skagit N/A# 
   Lower Thompson*  N/A# West Kootenay 79 Peace 55 
   Bridge*  31 East Kootenay 67 Skeena-Nass 53 
   Chilcotin*  N/A# Boundary 74 Liard N/A# 
   Quesnel*  47 Okanagan 73 Stikine 160 
Lower Fraser  54 Similkameen 37 Northwest N/A# 
       

British Columbia 57% of Normal 
        * Sub‐basin of Middle Fraser     # Insufficient data to calculate a Snow Basin Index             Normal Period (1991‐2020) 

The June 1st snow survey is now complete. Data from 18 manual snow courses and 104 
automated snow weather stations around the province (collected by the Ministry of 
Environment and Climate Change Strategy’s Snow Survey Program, BC Hydro and partners), 
and climate data from Environment and Climate Change Canada (ECCC) and the provincial 
Climate Related Monitoring Program have been used to form the basis of the following report. 

Table 1. June 1st, 2024 Snow Basin Indices in B.C. 

 
  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Next scheduled snow bulletin release: June 20th, 2024 

Executive Summary  
 

 As of June 1st, the provincial snowpack is below 
normal, averaging 57% across B.C. (May 15th: 
57%) 

 The June 1st Snow Bulletin provides an update on 
the seasonal snowmelt process. Typically, it 
highlights whether snowmelt is earlier than 
normal, delayed or melting at seasonal rates. 

 On average, approximately 46% of the seasonal 
snowpack melts by June 1st. This year 52% of the 
peak snowpack has melted. Last year, 
temperatures were much warmer in May and 
86% of the snowpack melted by this time. 

 Snowmelt-related flood hazard remains low. 
Despite significant heat on May 9-12, no flooding 
was experienced. 

 The greatest flood risk for the rest of the season 
is from widespread heavy rain events. 

 Low snowpack, early snowmelt and lingering 
impacts from on-going drought are creating 
significantly elevated drought hazards for this 
upcoming spring and summer. 
 

Figure 1. June 1st, 2024 Basin Snow Water Index Map of 
British Columbia. Larger and colour-friendly versions 

available in full report. 

Page 122 of 127



Page 123 of 127



Page 124 of 127



     
 

250-964-4066        manager@nkdf.org       www.nkdf.org 

 
 

PRESS RELEASE 
 
 

Nechako-Kitamaat Development Fund Grants $140,374 for New Projects Across 
the Region 

 
June 6, 2024 – The Nechako-Kitamaat Development Fund Society Board of Directors has 
approved $140,374 in grant funding for eight projects to start off the new funding cycle. A total of 
$385,000 is available for grants between April 1, 2024 and March 31, 2025.  
 
 
The Village of Fraser Lake received $50,000 to assist with constructing a new water reservoir. In 
addition to construction of a new water storage reservoir, the project will improve the mixing 
system, valves and pipe connections, and upgrade the control building and electrical components 
to provide clean, reliable drinking water to the community. 
 
Haisla Nation Council was granted $47,274 to purchase bunker gear and hoses for the Volunteer 
Fire Department to enhance protection and safety. The mission of the Fire Department is to 
provide fire and medical services to the Haisla Nation supported by proper training, safety and 
culture, and to protect all life and assets for the Nation and its members.  
 
Cheslatta Carrier Nation received $10,000 to go toward the purchase of a drone and drone pilot 
training and certification. The drone will be used by the Cheslatta Carrier Nation fire protection 
team to check lightning strikes, fireguards and hold over fires for hot spots to allow for an early 
response to mitigate the escalation of fires. 
 
Burns Lake Native Development Corporation received $10,000 to go towards hosting the 25th 
Annual National Indigenous Peoples Day. The celebration will be a week-long event from June 
18-June 22. The event will kickoff with a barbeque at Spirit Square in Burns Lake on June 18 and 
culminate with a parade the morning of June 22 and a gala dinner and dance in the evening at 
The Gathering Place.  
 
The Gospel Evangelical Free Church Society was granted $8,400 for exterior upgrades of the 
Gospel Chapel Evangelical Free Church. The Church has been in operation for over 50 years. 
The building is used for regular church operations as well as by community and school groups.  
 
The following projects were also approved by the Board Directors in the Under $5,000 category:  
 

Page 125 of 127

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___http://www.nkdf.org/___.YzFjOmZyYXNlcmxha2U6YzpvOjQ4YmVmZDNkNGE4OWIwNDBhNTY1YmViN2QwMzRhOTVjOjY6ZDg1Njo0ZTk1ZjI2OTZkZDgzOTkwODhiMTllOTJmZDdjYTQzOGEyNTc0NzZmMDgwMDYyNzM2MjUyMDA3MzMxMzAyODcyOnA6VA


Vanderhoof International Airshow Society was granted $5,000 to go toward hosting “The Masters 
of the Air” Exhibition in Vanderhoof on August 3, 2024. Flights in the B17 Flying Fortress, the P-
51D Mustang, Harvard Mk4 and P-40E Kitty Hawk will be available. 
 
Burns Lake Youth Soccer Association received $5,000 to purchase new nets. The Association 
has been working to upgrade all the nets, not only so that they are a better quality, but also so 
they can host more tournaments and have more players on the field during the regular season 
practice. With the purchase of this set of nets, the organizations upgrade goals will be complete.  
 
Nechako View Senior Citizens Home Society received $4,700. The Society provides affordable 
senior housing in Vanderhoof and currently operates 36 independent rental units. With this grant, 
two greenhouses will be built to complement the raised beds at the Nechako View Seniors 
complex for the residents to utilize. 
 
 
 

Quotes  
 
Brenda Bailey, Minister of Jobs, Economic Development and Innovation   
“Supporting vital improvements in infrastructure, like improving access to reliable, clean drinking 
water and important preparations for wildfire season are a big part of the Province’s work to make 
life better for British Columbians. We’ll continue working alongside the Nechako-Kitamaat 
Development Fund to build a stronger, more resilient future for everyone in the region.”  
 
 
Devrie Sanghera, Business Partners, Communities and Social Performance Rio Tinto BC 
Works 
“Supporting economic opportunities within communities, is what this fund is about. Projects to 
enhance community infrastructures in areas such as clean drinking water and proactive safety 
measures against wild fires, will help to promote and enhance communities opportunities to 
attract and grow new business and people to their communities. Rio Tinto is proud to be part of 
a fund that supports the enrichment and sustainability of communities within our footprint.”  
 
NKDF Chair Cindy Shelford  
“We are pleased to start this funding cycle with grants for an incredible variety of projects that 
support healthy communities and fire suppression efforts and provide important recreational 
opportunities for residents to come together and celebrate. The NKDF Board of Directors is 
proud to call this region home.” 
  
 
The next application deadline is July 31, 2024. For more information, please visit 
http://www.nkdf.org/ For requests under $5,000 applications are accepted on a continuous basis. 
  
For more information on past projects funded throughout the NKDF investment area please visit 
http://www.nkdf.org/projects or Facebook at https://www.facebook.com/NKDFS 
 
The Nechako-Kitamaat Development Fund Society was jointly established in 1997 with a 
combined contribution of $15 million by the government of British Columbia and the former Alcan 
Inc., now Rio Tinto. The Fund’s investment area includes lands impacted by the original Kemano 
project and focuses on the communities in the Ootsa, Lakes, Nechako and Haisla regions of the 
north. 
 
The Society encourages applications from local governments, local First Nations governments 
and legally incorporated non-profit organizations. NKDF invests in projects that create sustainable 

Page 126 of 127

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___http://www.nkdf.org/___.YzFjOmZyYXNlcmxha2U6YzpvOjQ4YmVmZDNkNGE4OWIwNDBhNTY1YmViN2QwMzRhOTVjOjY6ZDg1Njo0ZTk1ZjI2OTZkZDgzOTkwODhiMTllOTJmZDdjYTQzOGEyNTc0NzZmMDgwMDYyNzM2MjUyMDA3MzMxMzAyODcyOnA6VA
https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___https://www.facebook.com/NKDFS___.YzFjOmZyYXNlcmxha2U6YzpvOjQ4YmVmZDNkNGE4OWIwNDBhNTY1YmViN2QwMzRhOTVjOjY6OTk0ZDo5M2M5MDMwZTc1ZDVlYTQ0Mjg5ODAxNjA5NzE0NjAyMzVjMzJjMjdiZjllOTVmZWQzMmE4OTZhOTE4NTkzYjQ0OnA6VA


employment, diversify the economy, and improve the basic infrastructure needed for community 
stability, quality of life and growth. 
 

-30- 
 

More information on the NKDF Society is available by visiting http://www.nkdf.org/ or by 
contacting the Manager: 
 
Britta Boudreau 
Phone: 250.964.4066 
Email: manager@nkdf.org  

Page 127 of 127

https://protect.checkpoint.com/v2/___http://www.nkdf.org/___.YzFjOmZyYXNlcmxha2U6YzpvOjQ4YmVmZDNkNGE4OWIwNDBhNTY1YmViN2QwMzRhOTVjOjY6ZDg1Njo0ZTk1ZjI2OTZkZDgzOTkwODhiMTllOTJmZDdjYTQzOGEyNTc0NzZmMDgwMDYyNzM2MjUyMDA3MzMxMzAyODcyOnA6VA
mailto:manager@nkdf.org

	Agenda
	1. Shellie Gleave from the Eco Cooperative Community Service Centre, regarding the Golden Opportunity Invitation to Collaborate dated June 7th, 2024
	Back to Agenda

	1. Village of Fraser Lake Cheque Register from May 16th - May 31st, 2024 
	Back to Agenda

	1. Nellie Davis, Manager of Regional Economic Development for the Regional District of Bulkley Nechako regarding the Bulkley Nechako Joint Accessibility Plan dated May 17th, 2024
	Back to Agenda

	1. Nellie Davis, Manager of Regional Economic Development for the Regional District of Bulkley Nechako regarding the Bulkley Nechako Joint Accessibility Plan dated May 17th, 2024
	Back to Agenda

	2. Cindy Shelford, Chair of the Nechako-Kitimat regarding Water Reservoir Replacement Project dated May 22nd, 2024
	Back to Agenda

	3. Erin Siemens, Project Planner for the College of New Caledonia Regional Campus, regarding CNC request for Support Letter MPO dated May 23rd, 2024
	Back to Agenda

	5. Nadleh Whut'en regarding Keep Highway 16 Safe Billboard Unveiling, dated June 7th, 2024
	Back to Agenda

	a. Village of Fraser Lake 2023 Annual Report
	Back to Agenda

	a. Village of Fraser Lake 2023 Annual Report
	Back to Agenda

	b. Union of British Columbia Municipalities Meeting Requests and Resolutions
	Back to Agenda

	a. 2023 Municipal Statement of Financial Information (SOFI)
	Back to Agenda

	1. Kelly Hall, Deputy Mayor for the City of Kamloops regarding Deputy Mayor to Represent Kamloops City Council dated May 29th, 2024
	Back to Agenda

	2. Rae-Ann Polowski, Regional Office Administrator for the Ministry of Emergency Management and Climate Readiness regarding the Snow Survey and Water Supply Bulletin dated June 1st, 2024
	Back to Agenda

	3. Kermit Dahl, Mayor for the City of Campbell River, regarding Letter to Minister Bruce Ralston regarding the State of the Forestry Industry in British Columbia dated June 5th, 2024
	Back to Agenda

	4. Britta Boudreau, Manager of the Nechako-Kitimat Development Fund Society regarding NKDF $140,374 for New Projects Across the Region dated June 6th, 2024
	Back to Agenda


